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A YEAR IN THE PUNJAB,

BY WAY OF CARTE DU PAYS.

THE scene of this volume is the province of
Mooltan, and its theme is the suppression of the
rebellion of Dewan Moolraj, the last Governor of that
province.

A short account of both the province and the
rebellion may not be amiss before we enter upon
either.

The province of Mooltan, as held by Dewan Moolraj
in the spring of 1848, extended from the district of
Kuchee on the left bank of the Indus, on the north;
to the eastern frontier of Sindh, on the south; and
from Chichawutneec on the Révee, and Tibbee on the
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Sutlej, in the east; to the Sooliménee mountains,
Trans-Indus, in the west.

In the map attached to this book, I have defined
the whole boundary of the province of Mooltan by
an orange-coloured line, so as to give the reader at
one coup d’zil a just notion of the vast extent of
country which Moolraj had at his command when he
commenced the war.

There may be mistakes of a few miles, more or
less, in the tracing of the eastern boundary, as it has
been done from memory, and not records; but it
will be found generally correct, and quite sufficiently
so for our present purpose.

The province may be naturally divided into three
tracts : one Trans-Indus; a second in the Sindh
Ségur Do#b, between the Indus and Chenab; and
a third between the Chenab, the Révee, and the
Sutlej.

I have passed through all three in the course of
military operations, and had a chief hand in wresting
them from the rebel Governor; after which they
remained under my charge, till the cessation of hos-
tilities permitted permanent arrangements to be made
for the civil administration of the whole Punjab.

With the leading features of the country, its re-
sources, and the character of its people, I am conse-
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quently acquainted; and such a general idea of the
carte du pays as enabled me to carry on the war,
will probably suffice the reader wherewith to “fight
it o’er again.”

I. To begin with the Trans-Indus:

As the province of Dera Ishmael Khan (treated of
in my first volume) forms the Upper Dérajat, so the
Trans-Indus dependencies of Mooltan compose the
Lower. Runjeet Sing annexed them to the Punjab
in the years 1820-21.

Under the Sikhs they were divided into two dis-
tricts, Sungurh, and Dera Ghazee Khan. Under
British rule they are united into one, called by the
latter name; and the civil charge of it has been
appropriately given by Lord Dalhousie to General
Van Cortlandt for his admirable conduct during the
rebellion.

Sungurh and Dera Ghazee Khan differ very much
in natural features. The former being in the heart
of the Dérajit is strongly marked with the character-
istics of that tract, and closely resembles the country
of Dera Futteh Khan, the southern border of which
it joins. The Indus on the east, and mountain
streams on the west, give a scanty irrigation to its
borders; but the central and larger portion of the
district is entirely dependent on unfrequent rains.

B 2
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Dera Ghazee Khan, on the contrary, lying at the
southern end of the Dérajit, where the Indus is in-
clining to the west, has nearly half its breadth irrigated
by that river; and the whole character of its produc-
tions undergoes a change in consequence.

No longer corn, but sugar, indigo, and cotton, are
here the staple crops: and stately date groves meet
the eye in every direction. Dera Ghazee Khan itself
is one of the most lovely spots I have seen in the
Punjab, and might well be called the City of Palms.
And the farther south the richer the country, till it
reaches “its acme in Mithunkote, which I have only
seen at a distance from the river, but is said to be
luxuriant. Here, however, the fertility seems to end,
for in 1849 Lieutenant Young found the country be-
tween Mithunkote and Sindh both thinly peopled and
miserably cultured. This had hitherto been owing to
two causes : its remoteness from the seat of govern-
ment at Mooltan, and its proximity to the hills of
the Bhoogtees and Murrees. The incursions of these
desperate robbers extended up to the very walls of
Roojhén, and confined all cultivation to a space of
about five miles between Roojhén and the Indus.
The style of architecture of the walls of the village,
cightcen feet high, well loop-holed, and forming
a square of threc hundred and eighty yards, suffi-
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ciently proclaimed the kind of life led by the in-
habitants.

The people of both Sungurh and Dera Ghazee Khan
are Beloochees, but of different tribes.

In Sungurh are the Nootkanees and the Kus-
ranees. The former claim to be lords of the whole of
the soil, by virtue of a grant, as reckless as munificent,
made in the palmy days of the Delhi kingdom, toa
Nootkanee woman who nursed a boy in the royal
harem. The present representative of the Noot-
kanees is an old man, named Ussud Khan, who be-
haved very foolishly during the rebellion. His sisters
were so beautiful that all the neighbouring chiefs
(Bhédwul Khan of Bhawulpoor, the Nuwab of Dera
Ishmael Khan, Kowruh Khan, Khosuh, &c.) made war
on him successively, to obtain one in marriage, as a
bribe to march away again. The Kusranees are only
tenants of the Nootkanees, but they have far outgrown
their masters, and are now the most powerful tribe of
Sungurh.

Their head-quarters are in the Sooliménee hills,
but their plain possessions are so extensive as to put
them quite at the mercy of the Government.

There is a tribe, however, which is inclined to
give much trouble on the Sungurh frontier—as a
precaution against whose fitful outbreaks the fort of
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Mungrotuh has always been carefully kept up. These
are the Boozdars, whose mountains overhang the
district. They are about six thousand fighting men,
and very predatory; and General Ventura and Dewan
Sawun Mull (Moolraj’s father), after in vain attempt-
ing to carry destruction into their fastnesses, ended
by paying for peace.

The tribes of Dera Ghazee Khan are Loonds,
Lughérees, Khosuhs, Goorciahnees, Gopangs, Mu-
dérees, Dreeshuks, &c.

Of these the principal are the Khosuhs and
Lughérees ; addicted rather to cattle-lifting and
thieving, but good subjects on the whole, as- times
go on Asiatic frontiers. They live about Dera
Ghazee Khan Proper.

The troublesome tribes are the Ghoorchédnees of
Hurrund, and the Mudérees of Roojhén.

The Ghoorchénees are half reclaimed only from
the hills, a vain and captious race, ever ready to
take offence, and never to be relied on. There was
no fort at Hurrund until a Kardér of Sawun Mull’s
one day abused some Ghoorchénees in open court.
The tribe rose to resent the insult offered by a
Hindoo, besieged the Kardér's house, dragged him

taked him. After this, Sawun Mull built
ant brick fort there, in which an officer of
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the Jheylum, which was attached to the province of
Jhung.

If the reader will put the map before him, I will
tell him what this delta is like in a moment.

It is a triangular desert, with a fringe -of rich
cultivation to its two sides, but not to its base.

From the junction of the Indus with the Sutlej,
all the way up the left bank of the Indus to Kuchee,
is a low, narrow slip, or fringe of alluvial soil, tacked
on to a great delta of sand. The delta of sand is the
original country, which once formed the left bank of
the Indus; but that river has for years been taking a
more westernly course, and throwing up on its left
whatit cuts away on its right. This deposit is much
below the level of the original sand; is overflowed
by the Indus when in flood; and irrigated by canals
from it all the rest of the year. Consequently it is
highly cultivated, and very productive. Its breadth
gives the exact distance that the Indus has receded ;
and the edge of the sand which terminates every-
where abruptly, and generally in the shape of a high
bank, preserves a slowly crumbling record of the
ancient bed of the Indus.

On the eastern side of the desert the fringe of
cultivation is due to the irrigation of the Jheylum and
the Chenab ; and for a few miles, at the apex of the
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‘triangie, the Chenab and the Indus cultivation meet and
occupy the whole space between the rivers. Nothing
can exceed the richness of the tract where this occurs ;
and indeed as far north as Khéngurh it is a sheet of
cotton, indigo, and sugar; “ a land of fatness.”

~ The ‘people of the great delta which has been
sketched above, are inferior tribes of Muhommudans.
In saying this, I use the language of the border,
where the height of pride is to be a Puthén (or true
Afghan) ; to be a Belooch is mediocre; and to be a
Jut decidedly low.

In the southern Sindh Sigur Doéb there are no
Puthéns; and the Juts are more numerous than the
Beloochees. Blood and pretensions go together with
Muhommudans, even more than with other races;
and consequently the people between the Indus and
the Chenab are comparatively tame. The only tribe
among them from whom I ever got a soldier worth
his salt are the Bedwéls. Peace being desirable, so
much the better.

The country I have described has only one town
and one stronghold of any consequence. The town
is Leia, remarkable for two things: its trade with
Caubul and its bigoted Hindoo population.

The stronghold is Munkhera ; and its importance
is more historical than real. It was built, I believe,
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Moolraj’s held out during the whole war of 1848-9;
but surrendered when Lieutenant Ralph Young, of
the Bengal Engineers, had run a sap close up to the
walls. This fort stands at the opening of the pass
from Kandahar, and should be maintained. It was
described to me by Lieutenant Young as “a regular
polygon of sixteen sides of seventy-five yards each.
Total circumference one thousand two hundred yards.
Height of walls twenty-six feet, and of towers thirty.
one feet. The towers sixteen in number—one at
each corner. Two counter-guards to the two gates.”
It is only three miles from the hills.

The Mudérees of Roojhén are if possible more
barbarous, quarrelsome, and ignorant than the Goor-
chénees. Their country is described to be full of
swamps and jungles, from the overflowing of the
Indus; and Sawun Mull, unwilling to involve himself
in operations there, put a nominal revenue on the,
district, then gave half back to the zumeendars in
the shape of rewards for service, and expended almost
all his own half in establishments.

It is said that the Muddrees are such bad Muhom-
mudans, that they ridicule the genuflections of a
“ true believer;” saying, “Is he mad to put his head.
on the ground, and his tail in the air?” They are
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continually fighting with their mountain neighbours,
the Bhoogtees and Murrees.*

The revenue of Sungurh was nominally a lakh of
rupees per annum, but seventy thousand rupees was,
I believe, as much as was ever realized.

That of Dera Ghazee Khan was four hundred and
thirty-five thousand rupees a-year.

Moolraj’s total revenue, therefore, from the coun-
trics Trans-Indus was five hundred and five thousand
rupees a-year ; or rather more than £50,000.

II. The dependencies of Mooltan, between the
Indus and the Chenab, comprised very nearly the whole
of the Sindh S&gur Doib, between the Sutlej and the
Balt Range; the only exceptions being the district
of Kuchee, opposite Esaukheyl on the Indus, and
the narrow irrigated tract on the right bank of

* The former of these tribes has been greatly humbled by
that best of irregular cavalry regiments, the Sindh Horse, and
that best of border wardens, Lieutenant-Colonel Jacob.
Lieutenant Merewether, at the head of a detachment of this
corps, killed upwards of three hundred Bhoogtees in one
raid. The Murrees, I believe, have as yet never come in
contact with our arms. They are accounted the most power-
ful tribe in this part of the Sooliménce Range, and are much
feared by all their neighbours, from having four guns—
probably rattletraps, but still guns.
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by Hafiz Ahmed Khan, the Nuwab of Munkhers,
and is described to be “ of mud, with a citadel of
burnt brick, and surrounded by a dry ditch and fausse-
braye.”® It stands in the very centre of the Sandy
Desert ; and the Nuwab, to add to its security, built
four outpost forts round it at the distance of twenty
miles, and filled up all the wells round Munkhera
itself to the distance of ten or twelve miles.

Notwithstanding these precautions, Runjeet Sing
encamped against it on the 18th of November,
1821, and received the Nuwab’s surrender on the
12th of the following month. Runjeet had a very
high opinion of Munkhera as a stronghold, and it
is very remarkable that it never was intrusted to
either Dewan Sawun Mull, or his son and successor,
Dewan Moolraj, though occupying such a conspicuous
position in the province under their charge. Conse-
quently Munkhera was not in the hands of the rebels
in the war of 1848-9, but was occupied by a Sikh
garrison, whose neutrality I secured by never asking
them to any service, and never putting it in their
power to do any harm.

The revenue which Moolraj derived from the dis-

% « A Memoir, Historical and Political, of Transactions in
the Punjab,” by Captain William Murray, formerly Political
Agent on the north-west frontier.
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tricts between the Indus and the Chenab was one
million one hundred and forty-four thousand rupees
a-year, or upwards of £114,000.*

ITI. It remains only to describe that part of the
province of Mooltan which lies between the Chenab,
the Révee, and the Sutlej.

This is the tail-end of that delta of the Punjab
which is called the Biree Doéb. The centre of the
Béree Dodb, like that of the Sindh Ségur, is high
and arid, but it is a jungle, not a desert. Its edges,

DETAIL, RUPEERS.
* Munkhera, &. . « « ¢ « o« o o 475,000
Seethpoor . . . . . . . . . . B
Inthoee. . . . « ¢ . + . . .
Dhaka . . . . . . . . . . .

Ghaloogn . . . . . . . . . .
Shuhr-i-Sooltan . . . . . . . . p» 437,000

Khinjer . . . . . . . . .
Arfee . + « + + . . .
Mahmoodkee

Nouabad . . . . . . ., .
Mabarajghur . . . . . . . . A
Ahmedpoor . . . . . . . . .
Rungpoor . . . . . . . . .o

Mooradabad . . . . . . . . . L 232,000
Sompteh . . . . . . . . ..
Futtagurh . . . . . . . . . .
Kbéngurh . . . . . . . . .. J

——

Total . . . 1,144 000
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which lie along the banks of the Sutlej, the Révee,
and the Chenab, are either irrigated by those rivers
or canals cut from them, and are highly cultivated.
For its extent, this was the richest portion of the
Mooltan province, yielding a revenue of one million
and thirty-five thousand rupees a-year, or upwards of
£103,000.*

By far the greater part of this revenue is due to
the vast canals which successive Governors have

DETAIL. RUPKES.
* Loodhen . e 6 o & o o ¢
Tibm . . . . ‘. 3 . . [ ] . L]
Mylsee e o ° o & o & & ¢ & o
Kuror . « ¢« ¢ o ¢ o 6 ¢ o o
Nalee Sirdarwah . . e o o o o ¢ 455,000
Buhédurpoor . . . o o o s
Kotlee Adil . ¢« & « .« e« o o
Punjimi. o o o o o o o« o o
Ghazeepoor . . . .

Mooltan Proper . . . . .
Khanpoor . . .
Khéee . « . . .

Shahpoor . « ¢« « ¢ ¢« & o o
Secunderabad . . . . . « . . . % 580,000
Shoojabad . « . <« .« . . .
Sirdarpoor . ¢« + ¢ o o o o .
Sidnye . . . . ¢ o o 0 o o
Tolumba, &c. . « « . . . o« o o)

Total . . . 1,035,000
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caused to be opened in this corner of the province,
and to whose names they have given a just and
enviable immortality. It is observable, however, that
in general they have been the works of Muhom-
mudans.

I had a Mooltanee Puthdn officer in my army
(named Gholdm Moostapha Khan, Khighwance), who
had a remarkable talent in this line, and had brought
large waste tracts of his native country into cultiva-
tion, without possessing any pretensions to science,
or indeed much education of any kind. The Hindoos
of Mooltan used to tell a joke against him, without
any apparent consciousness that the story was very
much against themselves. Dewan Sawun Mull,
Moolraj’s father, offered one day, in open Durbar, to
give ten thousand rupees down, and permanently raise
the pay of any of his servants to forty rupees a-day,
if he would. increase the revenue of the barren dis-
trict of Khéee, by irrigation, from six thousand to
forty thousand rupees a-ycar. Moostapha Khan
accepted the offer, and received the district in farm
for five years, on the following terms: He was to
pay first year, twelve thousand; second year, twenty
thousand; third year, thirty thousand; fourth year,
forty thousand ; and fifth year, fifty thousand rupees.

A man must have had considerable confidence in
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himself before he took a lease upon such conditions ;
but the result justified his calculation. For the first
and second year Moostapha Khan rather lost by the
bargain ; but the canal which he had cut worked
better every year, and in the third year the district
yielded thirty-two thousand rupees. Now comes the
point of the joke: Sawun Mull, seeing that the canal
was now complete and reproductive, cancelled the
canal-cutter’s lease ; and when asked for the promised
reward, laughed heartily.*

The agricultural population of the country round
Mooltan is exclusively Muhommudan, and in
general of the humble Jut tribe, who seem to have
been settled here for a thousand years at least, and to
have been continually falling; for in “Brigg's Fe-
rishta,”t we read that Mahmood the Destroyer had a
great naval fight with a horde of Tartars, named

* In the East, where public peace and quietness depends
very much on the good-humour of rulers, a « hearty laugh”
from the throne settles all accounts, closes every debate, and
is considered to exhaust the subject under discussion. In the
present instance, Sawun Mull having laughed, considered that
he had in fact ““paid”’ Gholém Moostapha. In like manner
we find in all Oriental jest books, when a criminal is about to
be executed for murder, if he can only say something witty,
the King *‘laughs heartily, and forgives the offence !

+ Vol. 1. p. 81.
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Juts, of the same stock as the Get®, on the river
opposite Mooltan; fourteen hundred boats, armed
with spikes, being ranged on the side of Mahmood,
and four thousand on the side of the Juts !

The Juts of Mooltan are now reduced to culti-
vators ; their landlords being either the rich Hindoos,
who are the chief inhabitants of the towns, or else
the small but powerful tribe known by the name of
Mooltanee Puthéns.

Of this latter race was my chief officer, Foujdar
Khan, Alizye, and many others of my best soldiers ;
and as a body, they rendered us such good service
during the rebellion of Moolraj, that it would not be
out of place to recal their history here, even if an
account of Mooltan would be complete without it.

When Ali Merdan Khan, the Persian Governor of
Kandahar, gave up that province to Shah Juhén in
A.D. 1637, the Afghan families hailed with satisfac-
tion its transfer to the hands of the Moghuls. But
their joy was of short duration.

In A.p. 1648, Shah Abbas the Second marched
from Persia against Kandahar, and besieging it in
winter, when the communication between India and
Cabul was cut off, retook it before Shah Juh4n
could send Aurungzeyb to its relief. The Kandahar
supporters of the Moghuls fled from the vengeance of
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the Persian conqueror to the advancing army of
Aurungzeyb ; and took part in the several unsuccess-
ful attempts made by that Prince and his brother,
Dara Shiko, between 1648 and 1653, to recover
Kandahar. At last they abandoned their country,
rather than supmit to the yoke of Persia; and
Aurungzeyb, in grateful acknowledgment of their aid
and fidelity, established them as a colony at Mooltan,
giving the chiefs military service, and their humbler
fellow-countrymen certain immunities from customs,
and some profitable monopolies of trade.

At Mooltan, under Suddozye Governors, the exiles
throve ; relations and friends joined them from their
native land, and at the end of a century and a half
the Mooltanee Puthins had become a distinct and
formidable power, which long resisted the arms of
Runjeet Sing.

It was the Mooltanee Puthins who formed the
noble garrisons of Mooltan, Shoojabad, and Munk-
hera, in 1818 and 1821. At Mooltan, their men
of greatest note died with Mozuffur Khan, the
Governor in the breach. At Shoojabad they only sur-
rendered at the bidding of their master’s eldest son.
And from Munkhera they marched out with military
honours, after a siege of nearly a month, directed by
Runjeet himself.

VOL. II c
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On the fall of Mooltan the surviving Mooltanee
Puth4ns fled, and abandoned their lands, until the
Sikh conquerors should have forgotten their resent-
ment. After a year or two they crept back, and
found some of their lands given away by the new
Hindoo Governors of Mooltan to Hjndoo favourites,
and others in the hands of their own Jut tenants,
who refused to give them up, and easily bribed the
Governor not to interfere in favour of such enemies
to the Khalsa as the Mooltanee Puthéns,

The Puthéns betook themselves to Lahore, and
demanded justice from Runjeet Sing, who had never
contemplated the confiscation of the lands. Sawun
Mull was now Governor of Mooltan, and Runjeet
issued written orders for the lands to be restored.
Sawun Mull put the orders in his pocket, and told
the petitioners to take care they never appealed
again.

And thus the majority of this noble race were
actually dispossessed of their lands in the province of
Mooltan without even the authority of the Sikh
Sovereign ; and by officials playing into each other’s
hands, were kept so from 1818 till 1849, when by
one of those strange passages of retribution which
the page of history reveals, another siege of Mooltan
gave the death-blow to the Sikhs themselves, and the
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sons and grandsons of the Mooltanee Puthéns who
gartisoned that fortress in 1818, were mow seen
foremost in the ranks of the besiegers, and re-entered
in triumph their ancestral stronghold.

The story may be concluded with a real instancs
of poetical justice; for on the Mooltanee Puthfins
petitioning, after the war was ended, their services
and peculiar case, were, I believe, deemed by Lord
Dalhousie to justify a departure from the rule, which
sets a limit of twelve years to suits for land, and the
British Courts of Justice were thrown open to them,
to prove their title to the estates if they were able.

Thus, after thirty years, Mooltan has recovered its
landed aristocracy, and the Juts have once more
relapsed into a state of servitude.

There are many thriving towns and serviceable
forts in this part of the province of Mooltan; but
Mooltan and Sirdarpoor are the two principal ; though
the latter is insignificant in comparison with the
former.

A ground plan of the fort of Mooltan will be found
elsewhere in this book ; and from it the reader will be
enabled to judge of its undoubted strength.

It would require, however, an acquaintance with
the ultra-Muhommudan races on the Indus to under-

stand fully how the intrinsic security of the foitress
c 2
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was heightened to impregnability in the superstitious
estimation of the people by the charm shed over it by
the Great Musjid and sacred shrines of Shah Rookn
Alum, and Bhawul Huk, whose noble domes sur-
mounted the citadel before the war.

Two out of the three are now a heap of ruins.

The city of Mooltan joined its walls on to those of
the fort. It contained, 1 should think, thirty thou-
sand inhabitants, and was celebrated throughout Cen-
tral Asia for its Cabul trade and silken manufactures,
as the fortress for its strength and shrines.

Mooltan is surrounded by groves of date-trees,*
and the most beautiful gardens, which are doubly
pleasing to the eye, as both adorning its appearance
and bearing witness to its wealth. The mangoes
produced in these gardens are, perhaps, the most deli-
cious in India, except those of Mazagdon at Bom-
bay. Oranges, pomegranates, and peaches, are like-
wise produced in profusion, and better than in
Hindoostan.

Mooltan probably owes these fruits to a sun ever
burning above, and canals ever flowing below. Its

* The people tell that these dates first grew at Mooltan
from fruit-stones left on the ground by the army of Nadir
Shah, a legacy of wealth and beauty such as conquest seldom
leaves behind.
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heat is immortalised by some malicious visitor in a
miserable couplet which no translation can spoil :

¢ Churchyards, beggars, dust, and heat,
Are the four best things at Mooltan you'll meet.”

The churchyards, beggars, and dust, are not to be
denied by the most patriotic Mooltanee ; but are ex-
plained away into evidences of sanctity, wealth, and
traffic. The heat, which is equally incontestible, is
thus accounted for. Once upon a time there lived at
Mooltan a holy man, called Peer Shumsh. His
thoughts were in heaven, so he kept no kitchen ; but
when he happened to be hungry, he, in all simplicity,
begged a dinner. One day he was seized with hunger
in the city very near a butcher’s; he begged, and re-
ceived a chop; for the butcher was a good Muhom-
mudan. Peer Shumsh went on to a cook-shop, and
laying his chop on the girdle, said in an absent way :
“ Cook that for the love of Muhommud !” The cook
was a bad man, and did not care a sheep’s tail for
Muhommud ; so he just took up the chop, and threw
it into Shumsh’sface! There is no doubt if the out-
raged Shumsh had prayed for the whole city of Mool-
tan to be swallowed up by an earthquake, it would
‘have happened ; but to his everlasting honour he did
not. He mildly picked up the chop, and turning his
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eyes towards the sun, implored that luminary to supply
what man denied.  The sun, to the consternation of
all Mooltan, descended three degrees, and cooked the
chop of Peer Shumsh to a turn; after which, as an
everlasting punishment to the city, the sun never went
back; but continues to the present day, a burning
example to all young Muhommudans, three degrees
nearer to Mooltan than to any other city in Asia!

But the reader must not suppose that Peer
Shumsh has spoilt the climate.

It is. the universal experience of India that a hot
place is not an unhealthy one, even to Europeans, if
the commonest precautions be taken against exposure
to the actual rays of the sun, and ordinary accommo-
dation be provided. And as far as my own expe-
rienca and inquiry goes, Mooltan is another instance
of the rule, 'When the rebellion broke out in April,
1848, the climate of Mooltan was represented to the
British authorities as malignant in the extreme;
and the supposition had a very considerable and
proper weight in the decision against a hot-weather
campaign. But there is reason ta believe that these
representations were made designedly by a Court
which, whatever professions it might make, was
always glad at heart to see the British involved in
difficulties, ar suffering a slight.
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In my force, which was encamped, with bad accom-
modation, before Mooltan from July till the following
February, there never was any sickness; and in
General Whish’s army, in September (the worst
month in the year), the hospital returns showed a
sickness of only four per cent., which was probably
less than in any barracks in India.

But it has been said that 1848 was a very favour-
able year at Mooltan, and that the sickness was very
severe there in 1849. The facts are correct, but the
inference is wrong. The year 1848 was one of
drought, and that of 1849 one of flood; and there-
Jfore the one was healthy and the other unhealthy.
But whereas years of drought are the rule at Mool-
tan, and years of flood the exception, so I believe it
will be found in the long run that Mooltan is a
healthy place. The natives should know something
about their own climate—and they tell you that
“Mooltan is healthy except when it rains;—but it
never rains!” Never is a long time; but when 1
arrived there, I think I was told that it had not
rained for four years.

A cursory account like this is not the place for
even a sketch of the by-gone history of the province
of Mooltan; but we may remark en passant that it
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has been a possession of importance, and its. great
fortress a stronghold of renown, both in the ancient
and modern world.

The great Assyrian Queen, Semiramis, two thou-
sand years before our Christian Era, coveted it in
vain, and was driven back from the Indus; Darius,
the Persian, is supposed, from the narrative of Hero-
dotus, to have included it in his dominions; and
Alexander the Great found Malli-thdn, or the Place
of the Malli, not unworthy of his arms. In the
close of the tenth century of the modern world,
Mooltan was invaded and plundered by Subuktagin ;
in the beginning of the eleventh its people were
almost annihilated by Mahmood the Destroyer; in
the fourteenth it. was overrun by Timour the Tartar;
the fifteenth saw its Viceroy ascend the throne of
Delhi; and in the sixteenth it fell under the sway
of the Great Moghuls.

Mr. Elphinstone says the province of Mooltan
“was taken from the great Mogul by the Persians,
and fell to Ahmed Shauh on the death of Naudir.*”
But in the treaty made with Nadir after the sack of
Delhi in 1739, it is doubtful whether more than the

* Elphinstone’s « Caubul,” Vol. 1. p. 234.




A YEAR IN THE PUNJAB. 26

dependencies of Mooltan, westward of the Indus, were
ceded to the invader.* In 1748, however, Ahmed
Shah wrested the whole Punjab from the King of
Delhi, and put a Governor of his own into Mooltan.
Ten years later, at the invitation of Adeena Beg, the
Mahratta army marched into the Punjab, drove
Ahmed Shah’s son Timour across the Indus, and
once more changed the government of the Mooltan
province. In 1760, Ahmed Shah regained the
Punjab.

In 1772 occurred one of the strangest of the
vicissitudes which this province has undergone.
Ahmed Shah was dead; and his son Timour had -
farmed the government of Mooltan to a Hindoo
named Lala Dhurm Dés, and a Muhommudan
named Mirza Shereef Beg jointly. The Muhom-
mudan killed the Hindoo, and spoiled him; and
then, in fear of his master’s vengeance, betrayed his
important trust to two Sikh Sirdars, named Chunda
Sing, and Gunda Sing, who thus, early in the dawn
of the Sikh power, became masters of the province
and fortress of Mooltan, which seventy-six years later

* See this point discussed by Lieutenant R. Maclagan,
Bengal Engincers, in ‘¢ Fragments of the History of
Mooltan, the Derajat, and Bahawulpoor, from Persian
MSS.”—Journal As. Soc. Bengal. November, 1848.
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was destined to prove the ruin of their dynasty and
nation.

In 1779, according to the MSS of Lieute-
nant Maclagan, and 1781, according to Mr. El-
phinstone,* Timour Shah found leisure from the
distracted affairs of Cabul to recover this valuable
dependency of his kingdom ; and having expelled the
8ikhs, he appointed Nuwab Mozuffur Khan, the
Soobuhdar of Mooltan, and “gave a lakh of rupees
for the repair of the fort, and city walls, and houses
of the people’”’t that had been injured during the
siege.

This was the last, and it may be added noblest,
of the Muhommudan Governors of Mooltan. He
ruled for thirty-nine years, during which he per.
formed the great pilgrimage to Mecca, and added
to his many titles the valued one of Héjee. I have
myself sat under the shade of a rare tree, which
he brought back, a slip, from Mecca, and planted in
the Huzooree Bagh at Mooltan. In March, 1818,
Runject Sing commenced his last and successful
siege of Mooltan; and on June the 2nd, the grey-
headed Nuwab, after a defence which the Sikhs to
this day consider the most desperate they ever en-

* See “ Elphinstone’s Caubul,” Vol. 11. p. 303.
1 Papers of Lieutenant Maclagan, already quoted.
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countered, died sword in hand in the breach. Thus
was the province of Mooltan annexed at last to the
Bikh empire,

I have before mentioned that many of my best
officers during the war of 1848-9 were sons and
grandsons of the officers of Moruffur Khan, They
remembered well, as children, running in and out of
the houses of the citadel during the siege of 1818,
and taking refuge at last, with their high-bred Afghan
mothers, in the Jumma Musjid, or Great Mosque,
whose dome alone proved able to resist even the
pewter shells of the Sikh mortars; and many were
the anecdotes they used to tell me of the prowess and
fidelity of their ancestors. I will only trust myself
with one, which is chamct&‘istic of the lofty spirit of
that “illustrious garrison.”

Amongst the chief officers of the Mooltan Governor,
Khooda Yar Khan, Alizye (grandfather of my chief
officer, Foujdar Khan), was remarkable for his daring,
both in council and in action. His talents had raised
him to the honourable post of Moosdhib (Squire)
to the Nuwab, a choics which he justified by dying
at his side. When the garrison were preparing to
receive the last assault, and it was known that the
Sikhs must triumph, the stout old soldier went to
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bid his wife a last farewell before he took up his post
upon the battered walls.

He found her busily engaged in concealing her
jewels in the ground. “Woman,” said he, sternly,
“do you wish to be mistaken for the wife of a Jut
zumeendar ?  Adorn yourself, that you may be known
for a Puthdnee. ~Of what use are jewels to her who
has lost her husband ?” The rebuke is still related
by his grandson with pride; and similar anecdotes
have been handed down in every family of the
Mooltanee Puthéns, serving to keep alive among
them, in exile and distress, a chivalry and dignity of
arms which distinguishes them from all other soldiers
in the Punjab.

Great was the descent from the high-minded
Afghan Soobuhdars of Mooltan to the petty pecu-
lating Kérdars of Runjeet Sing. There is something
quite ludicrous, after reading of Mozuffur Khan, in
passing to Lieutenant Maclagan’s memorandum of
the old Nuwal’s successors.

“A.D. 1816. (A mistake probably for 1818.)
Lala Sookh Dyal. Deficient in his remittances.
Was imprisoned and displaced.

“A.D. 1819. Shém Sing, Kashmeeree. Impri-
soned and deposed after siz months.
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“A.D. 1819. Budun Huziree. Failed in his
accounts. Confined and removed.”

I happen to be acquainted with Budun Huziree ;
and should this book ever meet the eye of my friend
Maclagan, he will be gratified to learn that the ex-
Governor of the province of Mooltan was in 1848
alive and well, and performing very indifferently the
exalted functions of Magazine Storekeeper in the fort
of Lukkee in Murwut, for the consideration of one
rupee per diem. He is as mean a little man to look
at as ever I saw; of neither rank, parts, courage, nor
education, and one might suppose was put into ths
government of Mooltan as a joke, if he had not found
it a very serious affair.

At last poor Budun Huzéree was superseded, and
Runjeet Sing drew forth from' his quiver a man of
mind, Dewan Sawun Mull, father of Dewan Moolraj,
who was appointed in 1821 with the becoming title
of Nazim, and held the Government till his death,
in 1844.

During these twenty-three years Sawun Mull, by
his great executive abilities, raised the province of
Mooltan to a higher state of prosperity than it had
perhaps ever before attained ; and while giving satis-
faction to his Government by regular remittances of
revenue, he contrived to accumulate an enormous
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private fortune for himself, and still to be beloved by
the people for his general justice.

Doubtless the rule of Sawun Mull had every advan-
tage of comparison with that of former Governors ; for
Mr. Elphinstone says that “ nothing could be worse
than the government”* when he passed through the
province in 1808 ; and it is not likely to have
mended under Sookh Dy4l, 8him Sing, and Budun
Huzéree.

Still he must have been a great Governor, and as
native Governors go, & good one; and from all that
I ever saw of his country, or heard of his acts, he
more closely approximated to the rulers of British
India than any of his countrymen. For instance, it
was the distinctive character of his government to
protect the poor. If there is any class in India who
can complain of British rule it is the native aristocracy,
to whom immunity from law is the breath of life.
Consequently, under us, they fade away and disap-
pear. Like wasps, they die when they have lost
their sting. It is pleasant, doubtless, to see their
hoards diffused; a village rise wher¢ a palace falls;
and mantles of khim khaub and shawl cut up into
jackets for the poor. But it would be better if we

* See ** Elphinstone’s Caubul,” Vol. 1t. p. 234.
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could keep both classes in the order and law of nature.
Perhaps we shall educate and rear in time a rank of
Indians that can be rich without vice, powerful with.
out oppression, and capable of sharing in their
country’s government, yet of resisting bribes. I have
heard that, in the Isle of Wight, a race of cats, with-
out tails, has been perpetuated by one who had been
docked. Then why despair ?

What in us is an imperfection, in Sawun Mull
amounted to a vice. He could not tolerate a gentle~
man. A low-bred man himself, he hated any one
who had a grandfather. Rich merchants he loved,
and called around him, for they earned their money
a8 he did himself; but inherited wealth he regarded
as contraband, a thing to be seized and confiscated
wherever found. Thus the same man who would
lend money to a Jut to buy a plough, or dig a well,
would keep a Mooltanee Puthén out of his estate, and
think he did God a service. Between the poor he
did justice with great pains and impartiality ; but a
rich man, even if in the right, never got a verdict
from Sawun Mull, without paying for it.

With all this, he was respected by both rich amd
poor. One of the ablest natives I ever saw told me
“he served Sawun Mull for three years, and sat
before him in Durbar where he transacted business
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every day during that period, yet never heard one
foolish word come out of his mouth.” On reflection,
he,said: “ Yes, there was one bad habit he had got
his tongue into, and I never could account for such a
wise man so forgetting his wisdom. If a soldier
offended him, he would say at once: ¢Take away his
arms | strip off his sword and shield, and turn him
out of the service !’ ”

This was the greatest dishonour he could inflict
upon brave men, and he often did it hastily, and for
nothing. At last, it cost him his life. He had a
good soldier, who wanted to leave him, and whom
he did not want to lose; so he put him off, at first,
by soft words and promises; but at last, when the
soldier demanded his pay and his discharge, he got
up a law-suit against him, and threatened to put
him in prison. The soldier remonstrated, and rei-
terated his demand. Sawun Mull got angry, and
told his guards, as usual, to “ seize the rascal, and
take away his sword and shield !I” The soldier called
out to the guards to lay hands on him at their peril,
but stand back, and he would give up his arms. He
then pulled off his sword and shield, and surrendered
them. The guards asked if they should take him off
to prison? *No,” said the Dewan, “ let him sit
at the door, that I may see him, and bave a few last
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words, as I go out.” They were his last, indeed !
The soldier had retained under his scarf a loaded
pistol ; and burning with indignation at the shame
that had been put on him, after years of faithful
service, he resolved to revenge himself, if it cost
his life; so he cocked the pistol, under cover of the
scarf over his breast and shoulders, and awaited the
Dewan’s coming.

At last the Durbar broke up, and Sawun Mull,
with a smile of gratified malice, stopped before the
arrested soldier, and commenced taunting him with
the folly of his resistance. In the midst of the
abuse, the soldier pulled the trigger, and the con-
tents of his pistol were lodged in the Dewan’s left
breast, above the heart. The soldier was, I believe,
cut to pieces by the guard. His victim bore up for
about ten days, and was apparently recovering, when
the wound broke out again, and caused instant
death.

Such was the ignominious end of the great and
wise Sawun Mull.*

The portion of his career, however, which has
most bearing on future events, is his strengthening

* Lieutenant Maclagan is wrong in saying that he *was
shot by a robber.” Forgetting that he was a Governor, he
was shot for himself trying to rob an unoffending man.

YOL. IL D
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of the fortress of Mooltan, and the motives with
which he accumulated munitions of war within it.

I am supported by the general belief of the people
‘over whom he ruled so long, of many of his officers
with whom 1 have conversed, and of the best-informed
persons at the Sikh Court, when I state that there
can be no reasonable doubt that Sawun Mull looked
forward to the time when the province of Mooltan
might be converted into a kingdom.

The stain of long premeditated independence, of
years and years of silent and uncommunicated pre-
paration for throwing off the yoke of his legitimate
Sovereign, rests upon his memory; and Moolraj in-
herited the treacherous intent, together with the
charge of the fortress, on whose fancied impregnability
‘it was founded.*

Runjeet Sing in his later years felt that more than
‘one of his servants had grown too strong for the inte-
rests of the throne ; but he wisely forebore to show
distrust when it was too late.

The Jummoo Rajahs, and Dewan Sawun Mull,

* This assertion has already been made by the author in a
letter signed “ Ultor,”” addressed to the editor of the  Friend
of Indis,” in March, 1849, with a view of vindicating the
memory of Agnew and Anderson, and showing how little
their murderer deserved compassion in his downfall.
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are the most conspicuous instances ; and Runjeet was
once drawn aside from his general policy to try the
dangerous game of making one destroy the other.
Great enmity existed between the Governor of Mools
tan and the Prime Minister of Lahore; and after
many fruitless attempts Rajah Dhyan Sing induced
his master to take the governorship away from
Sawun Mull, and confer it on Rajah Goolab Sing.

Goolab set off with his own personal troops to
take command; and I believe had actually reached
the Mooltan frontier, and found the forts prepared
for resistance, when the news of Sirdar Hurree Sing’s
death at Peshawur reached the Maharajuh, and sank
all inferior matters in the paramount necessity of
resisting the Afghans. Goolab Sing was hastily
recalled to join the royal army with his men ; and the
hint given by Sawun Mull of the reception he had
prepared, was prudently taken by Runjeet, who
resisted every future proposal to remove a Governot
against whom there was in reality no one ground of
complaint.

But Sawun Mull’s great advantage was gained after
* Runjeet’s death. Kurruk Sing, the Idiot, sat on the
throne, but Nao Nihal Sing his precocious son, was
King of the Punjab.

Rajah. Dhyan Sing returned to the charge againat

p 2
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his ancient enemy, and insinuated to the Prince that
he dared not call Sawun Mull to Lahore, as he knew
that that Governor would not come. Nao Nihal’s
pride was nettled, and with the levity of a boy he
made a heavy bet with his Prime Minister that he
would both summon Sawun Mull, and Sawun Mull
should come. Now, thought Dhyan Sing, I have set
them by the ears! But Sawun Mull’s good sense,
and the Prince’s impetuosity, extricated them even
from this dilemma. The Prince wrote a friendly‘
note to the Governor of Mooltan, and frankly told
him the whole matter ; adding, ¢ Come along quickly,
and I will give you anything you choose to ask after-
wards!” Sawun Mull never more showed his wis-
dom than in trusting on this occasion. He went ;
the Prince won his bet; and the Minister lost all
he played for. * And now,” said Sawun Mull to the
Prince, “ you promised to grant me a favour! I
have nothing to ask for myself; for by your kind-
ness I have wealth and honour. But I am not blind,
and I see that evil days are coming on the country of
my lamented master. These Jummoo Rajahs are at
heart faithless to their salt, and are aiming at the
throne. If you are wise, you will prepare for the
struggle. Cultivate a party faithful to your interests ;
and secure strongholds that shall be loyal to your
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cause. For instance, there is Mooltan; a place of
great name and natural strength, but out of repair,.
and unable to resist a siege. Give me but the order,
and I will so fortify it that if all the Punjab desert
you, you will have a rallying-point with me !”

The Prince fell into the snare, and Sawun Mull
returned to Mooltan with full authority to spend the
revenues of his province in strengthening his fort.
He set to work with energy, summoned every
mason and carpenter in the province to assist,
and in two years dug and faced with masonry an
enormous ditch, threw up a glacis, threw out a
JSausse-braye, improved every point of the fortifica-
tions, and, in short, made the fort of Mooltan what
General Whish’s army found it in 1848.

Having done this,” he felt that he was secure of
independence ; for there was no army in the Punjab
that could turn him out, and he had only to wait
patiently till the Lahore Government, which already
showed signs of dissolution, should fall to pieces.

In case of a collision between the Sikhs and the
British, Sawun Mull was prepared to secure Mooltan
for himself, by assisting in the conquest of the
Punjab; and I have heard, though I know not now
on what authority, that both he and his son Moolraj,
once at least in their respective administrations, prof-
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fered tributary allegiance to the lords of Hindoostan;
on condition of a recognised independence. :

It is highly essential -to keep these designs of
S8awun Mull’s family in view, and to remember that
Dewan Moolraj was thus reared up amld dreams of
a future sovereignty.

On the death of Dewan Sawun Mull, his eldest
son, Dewan Moolraj, was confirmed in the govern-
ment of Mooltan on the same terms as his father,
and divided with his brothers the enormous sum of
ninety lakhs of rupees (£900,000), amassed by the
old Dewan during twenty-three years of unmolested
government.

Well might Mr. John Lawrence exclaim, in con-
sidering this- fact: “ What a plcture it portrays of
native government {”#*

'The condition on which Moolraj had been con-
firmed in his father’s place was the payment of a
nuzzerfnuh, or fee on succession, of thirty lakhs of
rupees ; and Mr. John Lawrence remarkst that this
would have been paid had Pundit Julla and Rajah
Heera Sing, the existing Ministers at Lahore, lived
to- carry on the Government; “ but on theu' death
everything fell into confusion.”

«.* See- Blue Book, 1847—29,” p. 88.
-t Ibid, '
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“ Early in 1846, it seemed that Rajah Lal Sing
(the new Minister), designed to remove the Dewan
from his charge. There had been a personal quarrel
between them for some years, and now on the treaty
of Lahore being executed, Rajah Lal Sing became
Prime Minister of the Punjab, and a force was sent
against Moolraj to secure the demand of fine on
succession to Sawun Mull, as well as to realize a
portion of the current revenue. An encounter took
place near Jhung; Rajah Lal Sing’s troops were
defeated. The agent to the Governor-General at
Lahore interfered to mediate between the two parties.
After much delay and trouble, it was finally arranged
that Moolraj should give up the district of Jhung,
being nearly one-third of the province heretofore held
by him ; that he should pay twenty lakhs on account
of fine on succession, and for arrears; and that the
revenue of the districts still left under the charge of
the Dewan, should be raised in amount by more than
one-third. The new engagement was in fact a farm
of the province for three years, commencing in 1904,
Sumbat, corresponding with the autumn crop of
1847, o.p. Dewan Moolraj expressed himself to
the British agent as extremely pleased at this arrange-
ment, as, though the payment fixed was heavy, it
secured to him, by the aid of the English, his life
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and office out of the hands of his merciless
enemy.”*

Thus we see the son of Sawun Mull in his very
first year of government resisting the throne, and
defeating the royal troops. What a singular reflection
it is now, that had not the British at that juncture
interfered, Moolraj might have effected his indepen-
dence.

By the arrangement above concluded, Moolraj’s
payments for the two-thirds of his father’s old pro-
vince that were left with him were raised from one
million five hundred and forty-seven thousand one
hundred and eighty-three rupees to one million nine
hundred and sixty-eight thousand ;t and up to the
time of his rebellion, we learn from Mr. John
Lawrence, that he ¢ faithfully fulfilled his pecuniary
engagements, but rendered himself obnoxious for
neglect, in not attending to the requisitions of the
Resident when called on by him to redress the
complaints of his people. In fact, Dewan Moolraj
is a ruler of the old school, and so long as he paid
his revenue, he considered the province as his own to
make the most of. He proved himself to be grasping

* Grounds of the Court’s judgment in convicting Dewan
Moolraj of murder.
+ See ¢ Blue Book,” p. 88.
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and avaricious, with none of the statesmanlike views
of his father, and few of his conciliatory qualities.
The traders and agriculturists of the province had
long been complaining of his exactions.”*

This I now know to be a correct description of
Moolraj’s administration ; but before the war took me
into his country, where I could make inquiries, I
heard the laws of the Mooltan province so univer-
sally spoken of with respect in other parts of the
Punjab, that I fell into the patural error of fancying
that Moolraj had inherited his father’s virtues. The
real fact was, that the general system established by
Sawun Mull survived after a fashion under Moolraj;
and the system, not the Governor, was praised.
Moolraj, however, had already made such inroads
into his father’s institutions, that had peace conti-
nued, his true character as a ruler must have soon
become matter of notoriety. To the people of
Mooltan it was already sufficiently known before
his father’s death, as the following anecdote will
show.

The old Dewan, to relieve himself of some of
the cares of government, and accustom his sons to
business, put the province of Jhung (then included

* See * Blue Book,” p. 88.
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in Mooltan) under charge of Moolraj ; and Leia under
his second son Kurrum Nurayun; he himself re-
maining in Mooltan.

Kurrum Nurayun was much liked in Leia, and
Sawun Mull’s popularity in Mooltan is proverbial ;
but Moolraj gave such general dissatisfaction, that the
zumeendars of Jhung at last told the old Dewan that
he had kept Sawun (or the rains) for his capital;
bestowed his Kurrum (or kindness) on the men of
Leia; and cursed Jhung with the Moolla (an insect
which eats the roots of the corn.) The name stuck
to him ; and to this day he is as often called Moolla
a8 Moolraj.

We come now to the reasons which induced
Moolraj to resign the government of the province,
which he had so long regarded as an embryo king-
dom. For it is important to remember that there
was no attempt to take it away from him; he was
not even asked to resign it, but pressed unsuccess-
fully by two Residents to retain it; and Mr. Agnew
at length went down at his urgent request to relieve
him of the charge.

On June the 12th, being the tenth day of Dewan
Moolraj’s trial, Mr. John Lawrence was sworn, and
examined. The following is part of his evidence :

“In November, 1847, on hearing that Colonel
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Lawrence was about to leave the Punjab, Moolraj
wrote up, and asked for leave to come to Lahore to
bid him good-bye, which was granted ; but the
Dewan arrived too late. I received him, and ex-
pressed my regret that he had not seen the Resident
before his departure. He replied, that his business
could be transacted very well with me. A day or
two afterwards he paid me a visit, and explained his
desire to resign the charge of the Mooltan province,
which I told him not to do in a hurry, but con-
sult the Durbar, and his friend Deena Néth. Some
days afterwards, Deena N&th read out in Durbar
Moolrsj’s resignation, which I refused, as the con-
ditions would have involved us in a long revenue
account, and eventual loss. I explained that I did
not wish Moolraj to resign, but that if he really
" desired it he might do so, provided that it was not
in the middle of a harvest. To this the Durbar
all agreed; and seemed to think that his proposal was
not sincere. Some days afterwards Moolraj again
came to me, and again tendered his resignation.
He gave two reasons for doing so :—Ist. That
the new Custom arrangements in the Punjab (which
however did not include Mooltan) had an injurious
effect on his revenue ; for his people did not like to
pay any longer those dues which had been abolished
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everywhere else. To this I replied, ¢ Then introduce
our system ; you will be no loser!” But Moolraj
did not like to try the experiment. 2ndly. He
seemed to think that his power of coercing the
people was insufficient now-a-days, in consequence
of their having now got an appeal at Lahore. Of
the two grievances this last was the greatest, for
Moolraj distinctly said, that he would wave the former
about the Customs, if I would promise not to listen
to complaints from Mooltan. To this I would not
consent ; saying that I did not wish to interfere with
his jurisdiction in petty matters; but that no
authority could be permitted to exist in the Punjab
independent of appeal, and unaccountable to the law.
The fact is, that at that time, there were several
complaints against him, the decisions in two of
which happened to be against him, and he was much
annoyed. One was a case in which he had impri-
soned a number of bankers in Mooltan. It had
been originally investigated by either Lieutenant
Nicholson or Mr. Bowring, whose exact decision I
do not remember, but the plaintiffs were not satisfied,
and carried their complaint to the Governor-General,
who directed a fresh inquiry. The dispute involved
the inspection and scrutiny of a mass of accounts
and ledgers, and I therefore referred it for settlement
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to a punchayet of Lahore bankers, mutually agreed to
by the parties. The committee carried on their
investigation in my presence, and came to an unani-
mous decision against Moolraj. By this verdict,
Moolraj lost some five lakhs of rupees, and was
obliged to release the prisoners. The other case was
one of some Muhommudan soldiers who claimed
arrears of pay; and this also went against him. In
short, Moolraj felt that he could no longer do as he
pleased ; and that when he punished he must be
prepared to show cause for doing so. The Dewan
had never been really independent. His strength
or weakness, like that of all Nazims, was in an
inverse ratio with that of the Crown. When the
Government was strong, he was weak ; when they
were weak, he was strong. Under Runjeet Sing,
all Nazims were accountable for their acts. To
return : the result of the Dewan’s discussion with me
was, that he seemed determined to resign. I tried
much to dissuade him, but he was resolute. He
then required two promises from me, one of which I
granted, the other refused. He wished me to
guarantee him a jageer on resignation of Mool-
tan, which I could not do; but said I doubted
not it would meet with favourable consideration, as
all the servants of the Government, who had behaved
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well, had been rewarded. The fact was, that Colonel
Lawrence, before going away, had remarked to me,
that if ever Moolraj left Mooltan, he would be a
good man to put into the Lahore Council, in which
position he would of course get a jageer. But 1
did not tell him this, as it was a matter on which
Government would have to be consulted, and which
might not after all be approved. Besides, it would
depend altogether on the way in which Moolraj
made over the country. However, Moolraj was -well
aware that I was personally well-disposed to him,
and he went away quite satisfied.”

Thus much as to Moolraj’s resignation of Mooltan
being voluntary and reiterated on his part, and quite
contrary to the wishes of the British authorities.
Now let us learn further from Mr. John Lawrence
how Moolraj wished, and Mr. Lawrence agreed, that
the Dewan should be relieved from his office.

“ His other request was that I would keep his
resignation a profound secret, especially from the
Durbar, which I consented to, with the reservation
that I should inform my own Government and the
political officers under me. He asked me for a
writing to the above effect, which I gave. The
understanding was that he was to account for the
revenue to the end of April, and the Durbar take
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charge from that time; my proposal was that two
or three months before his resignation, two British
officers should go down to Mooltan, whom he should
gradually initiate into the state of the country, and
ultimately instal in charge. He was satisfied with
this arrangement, and on my objecling, that per-
haps it would discover his intention to resign, he
replied that he thought not, as the Resident’s
assistants were in the habit of visiting all parts of
the country to make settlements; for instance, Mr.
Cocks was at that moment settling Jhung close to
Mooltan, and it would be thought by the public that
a similar settlement was contemplated in Mooltan.
He explained that his reason for secrecy was his
wish to prevent any disturbance amongst his own
people, and quietly get away. All these circum-
stances were reported by me to Government, and I
requested instructions ; in reply to which I was told
to take no further steps in the matter, but leave it to
Sir Frederick Currie. .

“ Q—Can you state why the course of secrecy
recommended by Moolraj was not followed ?

“ 4.—Sir Frederick Currie’s arrival was delayed
till the 6th of March, and in the interval Moolraj’s
proposed resignation got abroad. As soon as it was |



48 A YEAR IN THE PUNJAB.

finally settled that Sir F. Currie was to come to
Lahore, I wrote to Moolraj, that if he repented his
resignation, he had now an opportunity of with-
drawing it. He replied, that he had not changed
his mind. 1 wrote and told Sir F. Currie all that
was going on at Lahore, and particularly about
Moolraj’s resignation, which seemed to me the most
pressing matter. When Sir F. Currie arrived, he at
once entered upon this affair, and proposed consult-
ing the Durbar, to which I objected, on the score of
the promise of secrecy; but Sir Frederick replied,
that it was no longer a secret, as he had heard it at
Agra. I urged Moolraj’s particular request that the
Durbar might not be told; and pointed out that
there was a difference between the publicity of a
rumour, and that of an authorized announcement.
The Resident was, however, of opinion, that the
Durbar ought to be consulted; and that doing so on
a matter so generally bruited abroad could do no
harm. He was nevertheless averse to Moolraj’s
resignation, and wrote down to Mooltan to give the
Dewan the option of yet remaining. He also sent
for his vakeel, and asked him, what his master’s
wishes were? The latter replied, that he did not
know., Moolraj answered Sir F. Currie’s letter by



A YEAR IN THE PUNJAB, 49

express, that he wished to resign, and his answer
was read out before the members of Council and
myself.”’

We see then that the particular mode of being
relieved, on which Moolraj had laid such stress with
Mr. John Lawrence, was set aside by Sir Frederick
Currie, who however, in doing so, gave Moolraj the
option of retracting. When, therefore, Moolraj again
persisted in his resignation, notwithstanding the
public manner in which Sir Frederick carried on the
discussion, it must, in fairness to Sir F. Currie, be
allowed that Moolraj entirely waved that condition,
.and made his resignation absolute under any circum-
.stances. Nor does he seem to have had at this time
any of his former apprehensions that the soldiery at
Mooltan would oppose his leaving; or at least if he
had, he was quite indifferent as to the result. He
either thought the garrison would acquiesce, or cared
not if they resisted and maintained him. It is not
improbable that, like a weak swimmer, he threw
himself on his back, and determined to let the stream
of fate decide his course.

In the remaining portiori of Mr. Lawrence’s evi-
dence we have the best opinion that can be obtained
that Moolraj’s wishes had not changed when Mr.
Agnew arrived at Mooltan ; and that though some

VOL. II E
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of the arrangements and preliminaries for the transfer
of the province may possibly have been displeasing to
Moolraj, yet they afforded no just grounds for alter-
ing his plans.

“Q. Have you any reason for supposing that,
previous to Mr. Agnew’s arrival at Mooltan, the
Dewan’s feelings had undergone any change as to the
resignation ?

“A. As far as I know, none ; but I do not know
what happened while that gentleman was on the road.
I never heard of any circumstances which could
have induced Moolraj to change his mind. He was
very wealthy. In one of our interviews, 1 remember
his dwelling on the dissensions of his own family;
and, baring his arm (which was very thin), he asked
me if that was the arm wherewith to control a
province ?

“Q. Can you speak as to Moolraj’s disposition
being humane or otherwise ?

“A. I do not think him a cruel man. He was a
popular Governor, perhaps the most so in the Punjab,
with the exception of Lena Sing Mejeeteea.

*“ Q. Can you give the Court any information on
the subject of the demand for accounts made from
Moolraj at the time of his resignation ?

“A. Yes, I recollect telling him that to secttle the
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revenue we should require the accounts of some
previous years; and though I do not remember his
precise answer, he certainly consented. This indeed
was one of the conditions the fulfilment of which
would entitle him to a jageer ; and I purposely men-
tioned it to Moolraj, because I was aware that ren-
dering accounts is a thing to which all natives have
the greatest objection, while demanding them is both
just and expedient.

“ Q. Did you, in your conversation with Moolraj,
intend to convey to him the impression that no
pecuniary demand would be made on him by the
Lahore Government on account of the Mooltan
revenues for the time which he farmed them, pre-
vious to the Hindoo year 1904, or during his father’s
time ?

“ A. Our conversation was only a general one, and
I forget whether this point was particularly discussed ;
but I believe that Moolraj quite understood such to
be the case, and that when he paid up the nuzzerana
in 1846, it was considered to be in full of all
claims.

“ Q. In your opinion, could any remarks of Mr.
Agnew’s, about giving up detailed accounts, have
caused Moolraj to suppose that he could be made to
refund any sum of money; or would the remarks

E 2
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affect him as disclosing what he wished to conceal,
or otherwise cause annoyance ?

“A. 1do not think that any remarks of Mr. Agnew
(who was a very straightforward and honest-minded
man) were likely to lead Moolraj to suspect any other
object than that which Mr. Agnew expressed ; but,
on the other hand, it is possible that the way in
which the accounts were asked for may have annoyed
Moolraj. It is possible also, that the people about
either Mr. Agnew or Khan Sing may have alarmed
Moolraj, or affronted him, with a view to extort
money.

“ Q. by Prosecutor. Was there any difference
between the arrangements you proposed for relieving
Moolraj, and those made by Sir Frederick Currie?

“A. Yes; an essential one. I selected Mr. Cocks
and Mr. Agnew. Sir Frederick Currie required Mr.
Cocks’ serving at Lahore, and sent Mr. Agnew as
principal, with Mr. Anderson as his assistant. Again,
I would not have sent any Nazim. Whoever I sent
'should have been subordinate to the British officers,
the latter being the responsible rulers. Sir Frederick
Currie thought that the Nazim should be the repre-
sentative of the Durbar, and that he should have had
full authority, though not independent of the British
officers.
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“ Q. by Prosecutor. Did you inform Moolraj of
the arrangements you proposed to make regarding the
management of the country ?

“A. Yes, generally; I mentioned two British
officers, and I believe by name.

“ Q. by Prosecutor. Was Moolraj informed that
a Nazim would be sent to relieve him ?

“A. T am not certain that the Durbar wrote this;
but if they did not, Deena Néth would have done so,
as would his own vakeel.

“ Q. by Prosecutor. In your opinion, did the
appointment of Sirdar Khan Sing as Nazim, in any
way affect Moolraj’s desire to resign his charge?

“A. T do not think it ought to have done so. It
might have had that effect ; but it did not strike me
at the time, or I would have certainly pointed it out.

“ Q. (by prisoner’s counsel) Can you mention in
what part of the country is the mass of Moolraj’s
property ?

“A. No, I cannot.

“ Q. Do you know what number of troops accom-
panied Mr. Agnew to Mooltan ?

“A. Yes, I do: there was the Goorkha regiment
(upwards of six hundred), a troop of horse artillery,
and five or six hundred cavalry, regular and irregular.

~
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“ Q. Was it intended that these troops should
relieve Moolraj’s ?

“A. The chief object was their forming an escort,
but ultimately they were to have supplied the place

*of a portion of the Mooltan troops, some of which
were to come to Lahore, some to remain, some to be
reduced.

“ Q. Can you state to what extent reduction was
to be made?

“A. Not positively. It depended on the report of
the British officers after their arrival.

“ Q. Can you mention the description of troops
proposed to be reduced ?

“ A. New levies, garrisons of forts, &c., would have
suffered most.

“Q. Do you know the number of troops in the
province and city of Mooltan at the time of the out-
break ?

“A. T could not make an estimate ; Moolraj said
he had twelve thousand men during the Sutlej cam-
paign, which he reduced afterwards to six thousand.
I know that after he left Lahore, in the end of 1847,
he made still further reductions, for I heard complaints.
A portion of his men must have been at Leia and
other outposts. On the whole, therefore, I do not
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think he had more than two thousand at Mooltan.
Natives said less. Still we must bear in mind that
large bodies of men can be collected in a short
time.”

I shall now briefly conclude this sad narrative in
the way that I understand it myself, after all that I
have heard or seen.

The British officers selected by Sir Frederick Currie
to accompany the new Nazim to Mooltan were Mr.
P. A. Vans Agnew, of the Civil Service, and Lieu-
tenant W. A. Anderson, of the 1st Bombay European
Fusiliers. The former is described by Sir Frederick
as * the oldest political officer on this frontier, and a
man of much ability, energy, and judgment, with
considerable experience in administrative duties;” and
the latter as “an excellent Oriental scholar, who was
for some time deputy-collector in Sindh, under Sir
Charles Napier, and has travelled through the whole
of the Mooltan districts.”*

They were both therefore men of experience ; and
Mr. Agnew, who was charged with the principal
duties, had been many years not only in political,
but civil employ, and was remarkable for carrying
his kindness to natives almost to excess. They

*See * Blue Book,” p. 130.
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returned his attachment as natives generally do, and
it would be difficult to say whether poor Agnew was
more popular with them or with his own countrymen.
I knew him well, and believe that he was capable of
doing anything that was noble or generous, but
quite incapable of a harsh or unkind act. Lieu-
tenant Anderson I never saw, but have heard him
described as an officer of unusual acquirements, and
of peculiarly conciliating manners.

It must ever remain a subject of regret that two
men so formed to “ win golden opinions from all
kinds of men,” did not adopt the course best suited
to attach their escort. Instead of accompanying the -
troops from Lahore to Mooltan, mixing with them on
the march, and letting them share in their field
sports, they were induced by the heat of the season to
take the easiest route by water, while the escort went
by land. Even Sirdar Khan Sing, the new Nazim,
did not accompany the troops. This was a great
error, but it is easier to look back than to look
forward. The result was, that on the 18th of April
the two parties, the troops, and their commanders met
each other for the first time before Mooltan, and
encamped in the Eedgah, a spacious Muhommudan
building, within cannon-shot of the north face of the
fort, and about a mile from Moolraj’s own residence,
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a garden-house outside the fort, called the Am
Khas,

The Sikh escort consisted of about fourteen hundred
men : the Goorkha regiment of infantry (six hundred
strong), seven hundred cavalry, and one hundred artil-
lerymen, with six guns.

Moolraj paid two visits to the Eedgah, one of
ceremony, and the other of business, in the course
of the 18th; and at the latter it was arranged that
the Dewan should make over the fort to the new
Governor next morning.

It appears from the various accounts of this
interview, that amongst other topics connected
with the change of government that of accounts
was introduced ; and it has been thought by some
that the Dewan was alarmed by an unexpected
demand for papers. But this is groundless; and
was so deemed by the judges on Moolraj’s trial.
The papers Mr. Agnew asked for were the records of
Moolraj’s revenue reccipts from the different parts of
the province for some years past, so as to guide
Mr. Agnew in assessing those districts for the future.

It was a matter of no consequence whether those
papers showed that Moolraj and his father had made
avery good thing of their lease; for the lease was
now thrown up. Had Moolraj been negociating a
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renewal of the lease, and Mr. Agnew had demanded
as a preliminary to know what the province really
produced, Moolraj might have demurred; but as it
was, there was no reason for withholding the papers.
Moolraj could not possibly suppose that all the by-
gone nett profits of his farm were to be demanded of
him. Such a proceeding would have been unheard
of either under British or Sikh rule. While, there-
fore, it must be admitted that, as a matter of taste and
time, Mr. Agnew’s asking for the paperé Was unsea-
sonable, and might have better been deferred till the
great matter in hand—the transfer of the fort—had
been accomplished; yet I am decidedly of opinion
that it had not the remotest connection with the
events of the next day.

Into the clear hearts and open acts of the British
officers you may look for ever, and find no cause for
the rebellion. Whatever that cause was, it must be
sought in the hearts and acts of Dewan Moolraj and
his soldiers.

Let us then first trace the events themselves, and
then endeavour to understand them.

Early on the morning of the 19th of Apnl the
two British officers and Sirdar Khan Sing accom-
panied Moolraj into the fort of Mooltan ; were shown
all over it; received the keys; installed two com-
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panies of their own Goorkha infantry in possession ;
planted their own sentries ;* mustered the Dewan’s
garrison, who seemed angry at the prospect of being
thrown out of employment; allayed their fears
with promises of service; and prepared to return
home.

There seems to have been a surly fellow of a warden
at the fort-gate, who would neither let the strangers go
in or out, without the express orders of his own
master ; and who even told Mr. Agnew very plainly
that he had better not turn him off. On this Mr.
Vans Agnew laughingly said: ¢ Don’t fear; the

* As a military lesson, the Author ventures to suggest that
Mr. Agnew, in prudence, should not have proceeded to occupy
the fort until Moolraj’s garrison, with the exception of sentries,
had been withdrawn from it. He went to receive it, not take
it, from Moolraj, and the whole onus of its peaceable
delivery rested on the Dewan. Although discontented,
Moolraj’s troops did not mutiny till a collision had taken
place, and they would probably have marched out of the fort
at their master's bidding. When they had withdrawn, and
been encamped at a suitable distance, it would then have been
time enough for the new troops to take possession. Itis very
strange that this did not occur to either Agnew, Anderson,
Khan 8ing, or Moolraj, but especially to the latter, who
knew exactly the critical temper of his men. But Moolraj
himself invited the occupation! There are things in this
rebellion hard to be understood,
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Dewan’s servants shall be as mine, and mine as his.”*
The bearing of the whole garrison during Mr,
Agnew's inspection, was indeed much of the same
kind ; and if ever clouds foretold a thunderstorm, the
fate of the British officers was assuredly foreshadowed
in the dark looks and angry mutterings of Moolraj’s
soldiers. They needed but a word, a nod, from the
master they were losing, to break out, and fall upon
the intruders.

I am willing thus far to believe that Moolraj never
gave that signal; and that the whole train was fired
by an accidental spark, though there are great difficul-
ties in the belief.

The cavalcade passed forth, and entered upon the

.bridge over the ditch. Two soldiers of Moolraj’s
were standing on the bridge. One of them, named
Umeer Chund, gazed for a moment at the two
unarmed Englishmen, who presumed to ride in and
out of the great fortress Sawun Mull had made so
strong ; and brooding, perchance, over his own long
services and probable dismissal, impatiently struck
the nearest with his spear, and knocked him off his
horse. Agnew, who was ignorant of fear, jumped
up, and struck his assailant with the riding-stick in

* See * Blue Book,” p. 134.
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his hand. The ruffian threw away his spear, and
rushing in with his sword, inflicted two severer
wounds. He would probably have killed Mr. Agnew
on the spot, had he not been knocked into a ditch
by a horseman of the escort.

The scuffie was now known; the crowd pressed
round to see what was the matter ; news was carried
‘back into the fort that swords were out and going on
the bridge ; an uproar rose within, and in another
moment the whole garrison would come pouring forth.
Moolraj made no attempt to stem the tide, and rescue
the Englishman who had come down, at his invita-
tion, to Mooltan.* He either thought only of him-
self, or was not sorry for the outbreak ; and forcing
his horse through the crowd, rode off to his garden-
house at the Am Khas. Nor was this all: his own
personal sowars turned back half-way, and pursued
Lieutenant Anderson, who had as yet escaped. Who

* It is only fair, however, to mention that one of Moolraj’s
chief officers, whose trial succeeded that of his master,
assured me that the Dewan recognised Umeer Chund as a
soldier under the command of Bhugwan Das, and hurriedly
told the latter officer, who rode behind him, to bring Umeer
Chund before him at the Am Khas. This, however, never
appeared in the trial, when heaven and earth, and even
Moolraj's features, were ransacked for evidences of his
innocence.
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can tell now who ordered them? Whether Moolraj
had left the fort an innocent but timid man, but had
already, in the short space between his fortress and
his house, felt that the die was cast—that none would
believe him guiltless—that heaven itself seemed to
rebuke him for abandoning his dead father’s dreams
of independence, and there was nothing now for it
but to go on, complete the treachery, slay the other
Englishman, and plunge into rebellion ?—or whether,
as their coward master fled along the road to the
Am Khas, the horsemen laughing hellishly at the
mischief now a-foot, determined to commit Moolraj
still further, and so of their own will rode back ?
What moved them we can never know; but we
know the fact that they sought out Anderson, attacked,
and cut him down with swords ; so that he fell for
dead upon the ground, where he was found after-
wards by some of his own Goorkha soldiers, who put
him on a litter, and carried him to the Eedgah.*
Meanwhile Sirdar Khan Sing, protected by the
presence and assistance of Moolraj’s brother-in-law,
Rung Ram, whose honest deeds are the only wit-
nesses worth a straw of the Dewan’s good intentions,

* This point was not cleared up on Moolraj’s trial, but was
distinctly deposed on the trial of Goodhur Sing, Mr. Agnew’s
murderer.
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had extricated Mr. Agnew from the mob, lifted him
on to his own elephant, and hurried away towards
camp, rudely binding up Mr. Agnew’s wounds as
they rode along. Their road lay properly by one
end of Moolraj’s garden, the Am Khas ; but as soon
as they emerged from the suburbs, between the fort
and garden, a discharge of matchlocks from the latter
warned them to come no closer; guns too were being
dragged out of the garden-gate ; so they turned their
elephant aside, and took another path; and as they
went, a cannon-shot from the guns behind them
hissed over their heads. Moolraj, who had gallopped
on before, was in the garden at the time! If he
did not order the soldiers who lived in the Am Khas
to fire upon the English officers, how came they to
do so ?—for they had not been in the fort, and
knew nothing of the affray until the Dewan came
home.

Somehow or other, there seems to have been a
general readiness for a row among Moolraj’s soldiers
wherever stationed, and active hostilities wherever
Moolraj appeared ; and yet Moolraj would have us
think him innocent. Unhappy “ victim of circum-
stances!” he goes about with the best intentions,
and is followed by the most bloody and tragical
results.
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At last the two wounded Englishmen were brought
back to the Eedgah. A sad meeting for them, who had
gone forth in the morning full of life, and health, and
zeal, to do their duty. The native doctor of the Goorkha
regiment dressed their wounds. This done, Mr.
Agnew proceeded to report these occurrences to the
Resident at Lahore, and then addressed a letter to
Dewan Moolraj, expressing a generous disbelief in the
Dewan’s participation, but calling on him to justify
this opinion by seizing the guilty parties, and coming
himself to the Eedgah. This was at eleven A.M. At
two P.M. Mr. Agnew wrote off to General Cortlandt
and myself for assistance. At four p.M. one of the
Dewan’s chief officers, Raezaduh Toolsee Das, brought
an answer from Moolraj, briefly stating “that he
could neither give up the guilty nor come himself;
that he and Rung Ram had already tried to do so,
been stopped by the soldicrs, and Rung Ram severely
wounded for advising the visit ; that all the garrison,
Hindoo and Muhommudan, were in rebellion, and the
British officers had better see to their own safety.”

Mr. Agnew seems to have behaved with consum-
mate calmness and heroism at this trying moment.
He pointed out to Toolsee Das how grave a matter
was in hand, and how absolutely indispensable it was
for Dewan Moolraj to call on him, if he wished to be
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thought innocent. Toolsee Das returned with the
admonition, but Moolraj never came. Why should
he? The ambassador found the master, who had
sent him on a message of peace, now presiding in a
war council of his chiefs. The Puthéns of the garri-
son were setting their seals to an oath of allegiance
in the Koran; the Hindvos in the Shastras, the
Sikhs in the Holy Grunth. The Sikhs were fastening
a war-bracelet on the wrist of Moolraj himself'!

Whatever may have been Moolraj’s previous inno-
cence; whatever his disinclination to rebel, after
having voluntarily tendered his resignation; what-
ever doubts and misgivings may have assailed his
mind after the first outbreak, as duty and ambition,
fear and hope, alternately were put before him by his
good and evil counsellors; these lingerings of con-
science were now over. In the space between the
going and coming of Toolsee Das, Moolraj’s mind had
been made up; he would rebel. From this time
forth we have no more weakness or hesitation ; no
going one step forward and two back. With the
scarlet bracelet, Moolraj put on some valuable quali-
ties, and set about rebellion with a determination
which might have saved him from rebelling. Let us
now see how he went through with it.

On the evening and night of the 19th of April,

VOL. IIL F
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the whole of the carriage cattle of the officers and
their escort, which were out at graze, were carried off ;
camels, bullocks, elephants, every beast of burden.
Thus was flight cut off.

It was necessary for the little camp at the Eedgah
to race the stern emergency, and prepare for open
hostility on the morrow. That night, under Mr.
Agnew’s personal direction, the six guns which had
come from Lahore were mounted in three batteries ;
and all the soldiers and camp-followers of that luck-
less expedition were called inside the walls.

Morning broke, and Mr. Agnew made one last
effort to avert the coming tragedy. Having failed
with Moolraj, he now forwarded to Moolraj’s officers
and chiefs the purwénnas of the Maharajuh, order-
ing them to make over the fort to Sirdar Khan Sing,
and obey all Mr. Agnew’s orders.

The messengers found Moolraj again in council
with his chiefs, preparing proclamations to the people
of the province to rise and join in the rebellion.
They had just agreed, too, to remove their wives and
families into the fort before opening the guns. The
messengers presented the Maharajuh’s letters. The
chiefs and officers replied that Moolraj was their
master, and they would only obey him. The mes-
sengers returned, and extinguished hope. Mr. Agnew
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wrote off to Peer Ibraheem Khan, the British Native
Agent at Bhawulpoor, to bring troops to his assist.
ance, intending to hold out in the Eedgah till this
reinforcement could arrive.

All disguise was now thrown aside. The guns of
the fort opened on the Eedgah, as did also the guns
at the Am Khas which were dragged on to a high
mound hard by. One round alone was fired in
return from the six guns in the Eedgah, after which
the Lahore artillerymen refused to serve the guns.
The fire of the rebels never slacked.

And now arrived an embassy from Moolraj in
return for Mr. Agnew’s. Moolraj invited the escort
to desert the British officers, and promised to raise
the pay of every soldier who came over. One
Goolab Sing, Commandant of the Ghorchurrubs of
the escort, led the way, and went over to Moolraj,
who tricked the traitor out with gold necklaces and
bracelets, and sent -him back as a decoy. In vain
Mr. Agnew bestowed money on the troops to hold
out for three days only. It was honest money. The
troops went over,—horse, foot, artillery—all had
deserted by the evening, except Sirdar Khan Sing,
some eight or ten faithful horsemen, the domestic
servants of the British officers, and the moonshees
of their office.

F 2
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Beneath the lofty centre dome of that empty hall
(so strong and formidable that a very few stout
hearts could have defended it), stood this miserable
group around the beds of the two wounded English-
men. All hope of resistance being at an end,
Mr. Agnew had sent a party to Moolraj to sue for
peace. A conference .ensued, and, “in the end,”
say the Dewan’s judges, “it was agreed that the
officers were to quit the country, and that the attack
upon them was to cease.” Too late! The sun had
gone down ; twilight was closing in; and the rebel
army had not tasted blood. An indistinct and
distant murmur reached the ears of the few remain-
ing inmates of the Eedgah, who were listening for
their fate. Louder and louder it grew, until it became
a cry—the cry of a multitude for blood! On they
came, from city, suburbs, fort; soldiers with their
arms, citizens, young and old, and of all trades and
callings, with any weapon they could snatch.

A company of Moolraj’'s Muzubees, or outcasts
turned Sikhs, led on the mob. It was an appalling
sight ; and Sirdar Khan Sing begged of Mr. Agnew
to be allowed to wave a sheet, and sue for mercy.
Weak in body from loss of blood, Agnew’s heart failed
him not. He replied: “The time for mercy is gone ;
let none be asked for. They can kill us two if they

s
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like ; but we are not the last of the English ; thousands
of Englishmen will come down here when we are
gone, and annihilate Moolraj, and his soldiers, and
his fort.” The crowd now rushed in with horrible
shouts, made Khan Sing prisoner, and pushing aside
the servants with the butts of their muskets, sur-
rounded the two wounded officers. Lieutenant An-
derson from the first had been too much wounded
even to move; and now Mr. Agnew was sitting by
his bedside, holding his hand, and talking in English.
Doubtless they were bidding each other farewell for
all time. Goodhur Sing, a Muzubee, so deformed
and crippled with old wounds that he looked more
like an imp than mortal man, stepped forth from the
crowd with a drawn sword, and after insulting Mr.
Agnew with a few last indignities, struck him twice
upon the neck, and with a third blow cut off his head.
Some other wretch discharged a musket into the life.
less body. Then Anderson was hacked to death with
swords ; and afterwards the two bodies were dragged
outside, and slashed and insulted by the crowd, then
left all night under the sky.

Morning assembles the same crowd again, no longer
furious but content. 'Where go they? To the Am
Khas, « Moolraj’s Palace,” for he is now a King !

There sits the arch-rebel in High Durbar, taunting
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Sirdar Khan Sing, late his rival, now his prisoner.
Goodhur Sing, the murderer, approaches, and pre-
sents a head—noble still in death. The crowd make
way for him as for some good man, and call him the
Second Prophet. Umeer Chund, who assaulted
Agnew at the fort, is called the First. Moolraj re-
wards the Second Prophet with an elephant, some
money, and the horse his victim rode; and long
afterwards poor Agnew’s servants, peeping from their
hiding-places in the suburbs, could see their master’s
assassin capering through the streets on their master’s
well-remembered horse.

The head is then thrown into the lap of Sirdar
Khan Sing, who is told to *take the head of the
vouth he had brought down to govern at Mooltan.”
The Sirdar, thinking over many kindnesses and benefits
he had received at the hands of Mr. Agnew, burst
into tears. The head was immediately taken from
him. It was not allowed to be wept over. Indig-
nities followed, which it can serve no good purpose
now to dwell on; for what I cannot myself write
without indignation and horror, must needs be read
by many with reviving pain. Suffice it that as all
things pall in this world, so at last Moolraj and the
multitude outside grew weary of dishonouring the
murdered Englishmen. Moolraj ordered them to be
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buried, and they were laid in a hasty grave among
some tufts of grass by the Eedgah, where they were
killed. But they could not rest even here. Twice
they were torn up by the people of Mooltan to rob
them of the clothes that wrapped them. A third time
they were buried, and a sentry placed over the spot till
they were forgotten.

Such, reader, was Dewan Moolraj’s rebellion in its
rise. Can any one pity such a rebel in his fall?
Yes! I have been asked oftentimes in England,
“ What has become of poor Moolraj?” Seldom,
very seldom, have I been asked * whether a monu-
ment had been erected over the graves of poor Agnew
and Anderson ?”  Yet they fell doing England’s work,
and sustained England’s honour in their deaths.

This is not well, dear countrymen. In healthy
minds, the resistance offered by a malefactor to the
officers of justice is neither the measure of his inno-
cence nor his title to compassion. Mooltan defended
against British armies is no oblation for the Eedgah
polluted by British blood. Moolraj is not the less a
murderer because he was one on a large scale ; because
he murdered with an army instead of a kitchen knife.
Consider the tale again. Think better of it. Feel
more justly. Discriminate between guilt and mis-
fortune, vice and virtue, a just and an unjust cause.
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Then come with me, and let us grapple with this
assassin of his invited guests; this traitor, who
dethrones the dynasty under which his family rose
from insignificance to honour ; this rebel, who, striking
selfishly for his own independence, has rivetted the
chains of his country.
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CHAPTER 1

IT was towards evening of April 22nd, 1848,
at Dera Futteh Khan, on the- Indus, that I was
sitting in a tent full of Beloochee zumeendars,
who were either robbers, robbed, or witnesses to
the robberies of their neighbours, taking evidence in
the trial of Bhowdnee Sing, recounted in the First
Volume.

Loud footsteps, as of scme one running, were heard
without, came nearer as we all looked up and listened,
and at last stopped before the door. There was a
whispering, a scraping off of shoes, and brushing off
of dust from the wearer’s feet, and then the purdah
(curtain) at the door was lifted, and a kossid (run-
ning messenger), stripped to the waist and stream-
ing with heat, entered and presented a letter-bag,
whose crimson hue proclaimed the urgency of its
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contents. “It was from the Sahib in Mooltan,” he
said, “to the Sahib in Bunnoo ; but, as I was here,
I might as well look at it.”

T took it up, and read the Persian superscription
on the bag: “To General Cortlandt, in Bunnoo, or
wherever else he may be.” It was apparently not
for me, but it was for an officer under my orders,
and the messenger said it was on important public
service; I had, therefore, a right to open it if I
thought it necessary. But there was something in
the kossid’s manner which alike compelled me to
open it, and forbade me either to question hiro
before the crowd around me, or show any anxiety
about it. ‘

So I opened it as deliberately as I could, and
found an English letter enclosed, directed to either
General Cortlandt or myself. It was a copy taken
by a native clerk of a public letter addressed to Sir
Frederick Currie by Mr. P. Vans Agnew, one of his
Assistants on duty at Mooltan, with a postscript in
pencil written by Mr. Agnew, and addressed to us.

The following is a copy, and appended is a faithful
fac-simile, which will be regarded with mournful
interest, as the last tracings of a hand ever generous,
ever brave, which held fast honour and public duty
to the death :
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« Mooltan, 19th April, 1848.
“ My dear Sir Frederick,

“ You will be sorry to hear that, as Anderson and
I were coming out of the fort gate, after having
received charge of the fort by Dewan Moolraj, we
were attacked by a couple of soldiers, who, taking us
unawares, succeeded in wounding us both pretty
sharply. :

“ Anderson is worst off, poor fellow. He has a
severe wound on the thigh, another on the shoulder,*
one on the back of the neck, and one in the face.

“] think it most necessary that a doctor should
be sent down, though I hope not to need him myself.

“] have a smart gash in the left shoulder, and
another in the same arm. The whole Mooltant

‘troops have mutinied,} but we hope to get them

round. They have turned our two companies out of
the fort.
“ Yours, in haste,
(Signed) “P, A. VaNs AGNEW.”

* Written “shouldier” by the native, and corrected in

pencil by Mr. Agnew.
+ The word “ Mooltan” is inserted in pencil by Mr. Agnew.

1 Thus corrected in pencil by Mr. Agnew, the native having
mistaken the original for “continued,” and further on
“round’’ for * bound.” :
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. POSTSCRIPT IN PENCIL.

“My dear Sir,

“You have been ordered* to send one regiment
here. Pray let it march instantly, or, if gone, hasten
it to top-speed. If you can spare another, pray send
it also. I am responsible for the measure. I am
cut up a little, and on my back. Lieutenant An-
derson is much worse, . He has five sword wounds.
I have two in my left arm from warding sabre cuts,
and a poke in the ribs with a spear. I don’t think
Moolraj has anything to do with it.+ I was riding

* By S8ir F. Currie, before the mutiny; to form part of
the garrison of Mooltan, after Dewan Moolraj’s retirement.

1+ This generous sentence is a complete answer to those
who have supposed that Mr. Agnew drove Moolraj into
rebellion by the harshness of his bebaviour. Had anything
passed between them to cause irritation, or give reasonable
offence, Mr. Agnew would surely be the first to have remem-
bered it. Indeed, a reference to the trials which closed this
causeless rebellion, will show that Mr. Agnew wrote to
Moolraj himself, expressing a willingness to believe him
innocent, if he would only prove it by coming to see him ;
otherwise he must consider him guilty. It is still further
certain that Moolraj, by Rung Ram’s advice, started to go to
Mr. Agnew, which he would not have done had he had a
quarrel with that lamented officer, and rebelled to avenge
himself. In short, little doubt now remains that the first
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with him when we were attacked. He rode off, but
is now said to be in the hands of the soldiery.
“Khan Singh and his people all right.
“Yours, in haste,
“P. A. VANs AGNEW.
“ 19th, two p.M.
“ To General Cortlandt, or

‘¢ Lieutenant Edwardes,
¢ Bunnoo.”

During the perusal of the above letter, I felt that
all eyes were on me, for no one spoke, not a pen
moved, and there was that kind of hush which comes
over an assembly under some indefinite feeling of
alarm. I never remember in my life being more
moved, or feeling more painfully the necessity of
betraying no emotion. After lingering over the last

attack on Mr. Agnew was unauthorised, though done with the
belief that it would be pleasing to Moolraj, and that Moolraj’s
guilt of Mr. Agnew’s blood commenced subsequently to this
letter of Mr. Agnew’s, when stimulated by the warlike temper
of his soldiers, he swore them to adhere to him if he rebelled,
bound the bracelet of war upon his own arm, and ordered the
fatal attack on the Eedgah. The Commissioners who tried
Moolraj, took the very same view as Mr. Agnew, and acquitted
the Dewan of the first assault upon the British officers, but
found him guilty of their deaths.
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few sentences as long as I could, I looked up at the
kossid, and said: “ Very good! Sit down in that
corner of the tent, and I'll attend to you as soon as I
have done this trial.” Then turning to the gaping
moonshees, I bade them “go on with the evidence,”
and the disappointed crowd once more bent their
attention on the witnesses. But from that moment
I heard no more. My eyes indeed were fixed me-
chanically upon the speakers, but my thoughts were
at Mooltan, with my wounded countrymen, revolving
how I ought to act to assist them.

In about an hour I had arranged the ways and
means in my own mind, and that done, had no
farther reason for concealment. I saw clearly what
to do, and the sooner it was done the better.

So I broke up the court, and summoned an officer
who was in charge of the ferry of the Indus between
Dera Futteh Khan in my province, and Leia in
Moolraj’s ; and filled up the interval till he came by
cross-questioning the kossid as to what he had seen
himself.  His account of the events themselves
amounted to much the same as Mr. Agnew had
written; but being a native of Mooltan, and better
acquainted with the temper of Moolraj, and his
soldiery, he took a much less hopeful view of the
position of the British officers, and believed that
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some guns, which he had heard since leaving
Mooltan, announced the catastrophe which had in
fact occurred.

Mooltan is about ninety miles (chiefly sand) from
Dera Futteh Khan, and two broad rivers flow be-
tween them, yet the kossid had accomplished the
distance in exactly three days, after making several
circuits to avoid provincial officials of Moolraj.

By the time the kossid had told his story, the
officer I had sent for was announced. His name
was Foujdar Khan, Alizye ; and as he took a distin-
guished part in the succeeding war, I claim the
reader’s attention to the singular chance which threw
him in my way,

When Moolraj resigned the charge of the pro-
vince of Mooltan, the collection of customs in his
territory devolved upon Misr Sahib Dydl, who was
the collector of the Lahore Government; and the
Misr immediately wrote to his deputy at the Trans-
Indus ferry of Kirree Kuheeree to send a detach-
ment of horsemen, under a sharp officer,” across the
river to Leia, to relieve the retiring customs’ officer
of Dewan Moolraj.

The deputy at Kuheeree selected Foujdar Khan
for the duty; and he had been some days at
the town of Leia when I arrived first at Dera

VOL. II G
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Futteh Khan. As I was the chief authority in
the provinog to which he belonged, Foujdar came
across to pay his respects, or “ make his salim,”
s the natives say, and I detained him several days.
During this period I had only two interviews with
him; byt in discussing the subject of customs on
the Indus, he impressed me so musch with his ex-
tensive local knowledge, practical common sense,
and singular power of mental ealoulation, that I could
not but mark him down in my memory as & man
wha might be wanted on an occasion.

The occasion had now come; and the first man
I summoned to my side, on the receipt of Mr.
Agnew’s call for assistance, was Foujdar Khan.
Simultaneous intelligence of the outbreak had reached
Leia also; and it is a singular coincidence that the
letter which brought it to the Hakim or Governor
of that town contained two orders : first, to seize all
the hoats at the Leia ferry, and prevent me from
crossing the Indus ; and secondly, to make Foujdar
Khan (who was supposed to be still at Leia) a
prisoner at all costs. Moolraj knew more of his
ability at that time than 1 did ; but both he and I
became still better acquainted with it afterwards.

My first question to Foujdar was, how many boats
he could obtain for me by midnight? He imme-
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diately told me off on his fingers every ferry-boat
within twenty or thirty miles; and horsemen wepe
dispatched in every direction to seize and bring
them.

Meanwhile the whole camp was ordered to make
instant preparations to cross the Indus; and I sent
down to report my position to the Resident at Lahore
in the following letter:

¢ LIEUTENANT RDWARDES TO THE RESIDENT AT LAHORE.
¢ Camp, Dera Fytteh Khan, Night,
¢ April 22nd, 1848.

“ At three p.M. this day an express from Mooltan,
directed to General Cortlandt, reached my camp. 1
opened it, providentially, to see if it was on public
business which required attention, and found a letter,
addressed to either General Cortlandt or myself, from
Mr. Vans Agnew, communicating tidings of the das-
tardly assault made on that gentleman and Lieutenant
Anderson at the gate of the fort of Mooltan, on the
19th of April, particulars of which have ere this
reached you.

“Mr. Agnew called on General Cortlandt for
assistance ; and my duty to render it was plain. I
have accordingly resolved on making a forced march
to Mooltan, which is about sixty koss from this, and

G 2
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hope by midnight sufficient boats will have been col-
lected from the neighbouring ferries to allow the
camp to cross the Indus.

“I have two guns, twenty zumbooruhs, twelve
infantry companies, and about three hundred and fifty
sowars; a small force, but quite strong enough to
create a diversion in favour of our two countrymen,
and whatever party the Maharajuh may still have in
his city of Mooltan. I have written to Mr. Vans
Agnew to fall back on me, if he is pressed, and
rely on my speedy arrival. From the desert nature
of the road, and the intense heat, I do not expect the
men will be able to make Mooltan before the 27th
of April ; but every exertion shall be made.

“ Looking to the possibility of the spirit displayed
by Moolraj’s soldiers being general in Mooltan, and
consequent hostilities, I have written to Lieutenant
Taylor, in Bunnoo, to put Soobhan Khan’s Moossul-
mén regiment (previously told off for Mooltan) and
the four remaining guns of the Peshawur troop of
horse artillery, to which the two guns I have with
me belong, into boats at Esaukheyl, and thus pass them
rapidly down the Indus to the Leia ferry, where the
men and horses can disembark fresh, and push on to
Mooltan.

T feel sure that these measures will meet your
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approbation. I wound up the revenue settlement of
this district two days ago ; and that of Dera Ishmael
Khan is of very secondary importance to the duty of
rescuing Mr. Vans Agnew and Lieutenant Anderson
from their perilous situation.”*

To Mr. Vans Agnew I replied as follows :—

¢ Camp, Dera Futteh Khan,
¢ April 22nd, 1848,
“My dear Agnew,

“ Your letter of 19th April, to General Cortlandt,
reached my camp at three p.M. this day; and I for-
tunately opened it to see if it was on public business.

“I need scarcely say that I have made arrange-
ments for marching to your assistance at once.

“1 have one infantry regiment, and four extra com-
panies ; two horse artillery guns ; twenty zumbooruhs ;
and between three and four hundred horse. This is
a small force, but such as it is, you are welcome to it,
and me.

“ Your position is one of imminent peril ; but God
will bring an honest man out of worse straits; so
trust in Him, and keep up your pluck.

“ There are at this moment only three boats at the

See * Punjab Blue Book, 1847—49,” p. 149.



86 A YEAR IN THE PUNJAB.

Ghat, and T have to collect others from the neigh-
bouring fetries ; but we shall manage, doubtless, to
effect thé passage in course of tu-morrow, when the
following route ought to bring us to Mooltan,
on 27th:— .

“23rd, left bank of Indus.

¢ 28th, Leia.

“ 25th, Wells, half-way to Wander.
“ 26th, Wander.

“ 27th, Mooltan.

" “Rely on it, it shall not be my fault if we are a
day later ; but the very sound of our approach will be
a check to your rascally enemies, and to you, as
refreshing as the breeze which heralds the rising sun
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